BEFORE THE WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS

No. 24-208

SCA EFiled: Jul 02 2024
02:57PM EDT
Transaction ID 73539274

ROBERT CLARK, *ET AL.*,

Petitioners,

v.

**WEST VIRGINIA CONSOLIDATED
PUBLIC RETIREMENT BOARD,**

Respondent.

Certified Questions from the Circuit Court of Kanawha County, West Virginia

PETITIONERS' CERTIFIED QUESTION BRIEF

Lonnie C. Simmons (WVSB 3406)
DIPIERO SIMMONS MCGINLEY & BASTRESS, PLLC
P.O. Box 1631
Charleston, West Virginia 25362-1631
Telephone: (304) 342-0133
Facsimile: (304) 342-4605
Email: lonnie.simmons@dbdlawfirm.com

Counsel for Petitioners

I. Introduction

TO THE HONORABLE JUSTICES OF THE

WEST VIRGINIA SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS:

In *West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board v. Clark*, 245 W.Va. 510, 859 S.E.2d 453 (2021), all five members of this Court agreed that Respondent West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board had violated its mandatory statutory and fiduciary obligations owed to Petitioners, who are retired and active law enforcement officers¹ employed by the West Virginia Division of Natural Resources (DNR), by failing to correct errors in a timely manner in calculating their pensionable incomes. Following the remand, the parties disagreed over the full breadth and scope of this Court's holdings in *Clark*. In an effort to obtain an answer in the most judicially

¹In this **BRIEF**, a distinction will be made between retired and actively employed Petitioners. Retired Petitioners include all DNR law enforcement officers who were retired as of July 15, 2021, the date of this Court's mandate order. (JA 48). Actively employed Petitioners refer to the DNR law enforcement officers still employed as of the date of the mandate order.

efficient manner, the parties presented proposed certified questions to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. After permitting the parties to brief and argue the issues, the Honorable Judge Jennifer Bailey posed two certified questions for this Court to consider and address.

The first certified question asks whether the statutory and fiduciary failure of Respondent to timely correct the pensionable compensation error relating to the statutory subsistence pay received by Petitioners applies to both retired and active law enforcement officers and results in both groups receiving pensions that include such compensation in calculating their pension benefits. The second certified question seeks a definitive ruling from this Court on whether or not Respondent is responsible for paying reasonable attorneys' fees to counsel for Petitioners in this matter that has been litigated beginning in 2015.

The trial court answered "Yes" to both questions consistent with the arguments presented by Petitioners. In the scheduling order, this Court ordered Petitioners to file the initial brief. Petitioners respectfully submit this Court should use its discretion to answer these certified questions and to hold that the trial court's resolution of these issues is correct.

II. Certified questions presented:

A.

The West Virginia Supreme Court held in *West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board v. Clark*, 245 W.Va. 510, 859 S.E.2d 453 (2021), that Respondent Consolidated Public Retirement Board failed to timely correct the inclusion of statutory subsistence pay in calculating the officers' pensionable compensation. Does this holding mean that the subsistence pay received by all retired *and active* DNR law enforcement officers

as of the date of the mandate order issued on July 15, 2021², must be included in calculating their pensionable income?

Yes X No

B.

Under the facts of this case, is counsel for Petitioners entitled to recover reasonable attorneys' fees from Respondent Consolidated Public Retirement Board?

Yes X No .

III. Statement of the case

The controlling facts are set out in some detail in *Clark*, 245 W.Va. at 514-16, 859 S.E.2d at 457-59. At the time of the initial appeal, the focus of the dispute was whether or not the statutory subsistence pay earned by Petitioners, pursuant to the 1996 amendment to W.Va.Code §20-7-1, should have been included in the total wages earned by Petitioners, which then formed the basis for the contributions made by the DNR and Petitioners into the Public Employees Retirement System (PERS). Beginning in 1997, the DNR and Petitioners made the appropriate contributions into PERS, based upon the wages earned, including this monthly subsistence pay.

“In October 2015, the Board informed all DNR law enforcement officers—active and retired—that it had finally determined that the subsistence allowance was not pensionable compensation.” 245 W.Va. at 516, 859 S.E.2d at 459. In November, 2015, Petitioners filed multiple individual administrative appeals and requests for declaratory relief. These administrative appeals

²Although the certified question order has the date of the mandate order as July 14, 2021, the record shows the date actually was July 15, 2021. (JA 48). To be more precise and consistent with the record, the date for the mandate order will be referenced correctly as July 15, 2021 in this **BRIEF**.

were consolidated and after various hearings, Respondent affirmed the Administrative Law Judge's decision that the statutory monthly subsistence pay earned by Petitioners should not have been included in the total wages and compensation earned in calculating their PERS' benefits.

This final decision was appealed to the Circuit Court of Kanawha County and once again was consolidated into one case. On or about March 18, 2020, the trial court entered a **FINAL ORDER** agreeing with Petitioners that the monthly subsistence pay correctly was included in the pensionable compensation earned by Petitioners to determine their PERS' benefits. On or about May 4, 2020, the trial court entered an **AGREED ORDER** incorporating the Rule 54(b) language into the **FINAL ORDER**, which made the **FINAL ORDER** appealable immediately; retaining jurisdiction over Petitioners' request for an award of attorneys' fees, which issue would be decided after the appeal was resolved; and staying the effectiveness of the **FINAL ORDER** while the appeal was pending.

On June 14, 2021, after permitting the parties to present oral arguments, the Court issued its decision in this matter and remanded this case to the trial court for further proceedings consistent with the decision. Four members of the Court reversed the trial court and held that the statutory subsistence pay should not have been included in the calculation of Petitioners' pensionable income. However, all five Justices concluded that Respondent failed to correct this error in a timely manner in violation of its statutory and fiduciary obligations. Following the remand, counsel for both parties engaged in discussions and informal discovery prior to seeking a final ruling from the trial court on the remaining issues. Through these discussions, the parties determined that the case was in a position to be presented to the trial court again for final resolution. (JA 4, 49, 89, 94, 100, 135, 141, 165). Included in these filings were documents supporting Petitioners' request for an award of attorneys' fees. Prior to holding a hearing, Petitioners and Respondent submitted proposed certified

questions for the trial court to consider. (JA 223, 236). After reviewing *Clark* and the various briefs filed by the parties and after considering the arguments of counsel, on March 21, 2024, the trial court entered an order certifying the above-quoted questions to this Court. (JA 265).

The resolution of the first certified question will resolve the issue as to how the holding in *Clark* applies to Petitioners who had not retired as of July 15, 2021. The second certified question addressing whether or not attorneys' fees should be awarded under these facts will determine how many of these retirement law disputes involving State employees, which often are quite complex, will be litigated in the future.

IV. Summary of argument

By following the certified question procedure, this case is presented directly to this Court, pursuant to Rule 1(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court indisputably is in the better position to address any substantive issue regarding the application of its holding in *Clark* and is the only appropriate Court to clarify or elaborate on its holdings.

Upon remand of a case for further proceedings after a decision by this Court, the circuit court must proceed in accordance with the mandate and the law of the case as established on appeal.

The trial court must implement both the letter and the spirit of the mandate, taking into account the appellate court's opinion and the circumstances it embraces.

For the retired Petitioners, this Court held that as a result of Respondent's violation of its statutory and fiduciary duties to correct errors in a timely fashion, Respondent could not exercise its right, under W.Va.Code §5-10-44(e), to prospectively adjust the benefits being received by the retired Petitioners nor could Respondent extract any money from these retired Petitioners to apply against any overpayment. The remedy for failing to timely correct the subsistence pay error, which

error was repeated for every DNR law enforcement officer from 1997 through October, 2015, was to allow these retired Petitioners to continue receiving their full PERS' benefits, including the additional benefits paid as a result of including the subsistence pay income.

The failure of Respondent to timely correct this error also impacted all of Petitioners who presently were employed as of July 15, 2021. Because this same statutory and fiduciary violation also impacted all of the DNR law enforcement officers employed by that date, the question on remand was how does the Court's holding in *Clark* apply to them. As to this issue, the Court's guidance in *Clark* was not as explicit as it was for Petitioners who already were retired.

Because the retired Petitioners were afforded this protection and are able to receive pensions based upon their pensionable compensation including this statutory subsistence pay, this same holding ought to be applied to Petitioners who actively were employed as of July 15, 2021. The same untimely delay by Respondent in correcting this error applies to retired and actively employed Petitioners. It would be unfair and inconsistent with this Court's analysis in *Clark* to treat these two groups of Petitioners differently.

This Court has issued multiple decisions awarding attorneys fees against various State or other governmental entities in litigation where the plaintiff is able to establish that the public official or agency refused to comply with a clear legal duty.

Attorneys fees have been awarded against Respondent in other similar cases where the plaintiff was able to prove that Respondent had failed to follow the applicable statutes.

If State employees cannot get lawyers to take on these administrative appeals addressing the pension rights of State employees, which the Court repeatedly has held involve contractual and constitutional issues, then many employees will be denied the full pension benefits they earned.

Also, where Petitioners were successful in persuading the Court that Respondent's interpretation and application of the law was incorrect, Petitioners should not have to lose money out of their own pockets to pay attorneys' fees.

V. Statement regarding oral argument and decision

Petitioners respectfully submit that Rule 19 or 20 oral argument would be helpful to the Court in addressing any and all questions regarding the complicated world of State employee retirement systems and how *Clark* should be applied to the law enforcement officers actively employed by the DNR as of July 15, 2021. Oral argument often clarifies the relevant facts as well as the legal positions asserted by the parties. Because *Clark* was authored by a Justice, Petitioners believe that an opinion addressing the two certified questions similarly should be authored by one of the Justices.

VI. Argument

A. The Court should exercise its discretionary authority to accept these certified questions

Procedurally, the Court first must decide whether or not to use its discretion to accept the certified questions presented by the trial court. Rule 17(a)(1) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure references W.Va.Code §58-5-2, which provides that any issue of law can be certified to this Court. In this case, the Court is being presented with two legal questions that only this Court can address definitively.

In Syllabus Points 1 and 2 of *Wingett v. Chala*, 249 W.Va. 252, 895 S.E.2d 107 (2023), this Court provided the standard of review for addressing certified questions from trial courts and stated the right of the Court to reframe the questions:

1. "The appellate standard of review of questions of law answered and certified by a circuit court is *de novo*." Syllabus Point

1, *Gallapoo v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.*, 197 W. Va. 172, 475 S.E.2d 172 (1996).

2. “When a certified question is not framed so that this Court is able to fully address the law which is involved in the question, then this Court retains the power to reformulate questions certified to it under both the Uniform Certification of Questions of Law Act found in *W. Va. Code*, 51-1A-1, *et seq.* and *W. Va. Code*, [58-5-2](#) [(1998)], the statute relating to certified questions from a circuit court of this State to this Court.” Syllabus Point 3, *Kincaid v. Mangum*, 189 W. Va. 404, 432 S.E.2d 74 (1993).

The main reason for choosing the certified question process is that now that West Virginians are blessed with having two appellate courts—this Court and the Intermediate Court of Appeals (ICA)—there are more procedural options available. By following the certified question procedure, this case is presented directly to this Court, pursuant to Rule 1(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. This Court indisputably is in the better position to address any substantive issue regarding the application of its holding in *Clark* and is the only appropriate Court to clarify or elaborate on its holdings. If this procedure is not followed, then the final order from the trial court first would have to be appealed to the ICA, pursuant to Rule 1(b)(1) and (4), and then that decision would be appealed to this Court. Due to no fault on its part, the ICA simply is not in a position to state with any authority what this Court intended when it issued *Clark*. Thus, it makes sense for this case to return to this Court under any procedure available.

Providing clear guidance on how the pensions of all Petitioners will be impacted by *Clark* will benefit all State employees, who may be faced with similar facts. This Court long has held that a State employee’s right to an earned pension is protected by contractual and constitutional principles. *See generally Dadisman v. Moore*, 181 W.Va. 779, 384 S.E.2d 816 (1988). Furthermore, most lay persons have no way of really challenging any decision issued by Respondent, which has

actuaries, excellent lawyers, and extremely qualified staff members who are knowledgeable in this field. Thus, a decision by this Court that attorneys' fees may be awarded in litigation challenging Respondent's final decision regarding a State employee's retirement overall would benefit the system and would encourage lawyers to consider representing employees in these often complex cases.

In light of the critical issues at stake and the need for definitive rulings from this Court, Petitioners respectfully move the Court to use its discretion to accept these two certified questions and to issue a decision explaining the Court's rationale with respect to both queries.

B. The trial court carried out the letter and spirit of the *Clark* decision in affording the actively employed Petitioners with the same protections the Court afforded the retired Petitioners

When the Court issues an opinion and remands the case for further proceedings consistent with the decision, the circuit court has an obligation to carry out the letter and spirit of the decision. In Syllabus Points 2 through 5 of *State ex rel. Frazier & Oxley, LC v. Cummings*, 214 W.Va. 802, 591 S.E.2d 728 (2003), the Court set out the following rules governing the remand of a decision to a lower court:

2. When this Court remands a case to the circuit court, the remand can be either general or limited in scope. Limited remands explicitly outline the issues to be addressed by the circuit court and create a narrow framework within which the circuit court must operate. General remands, in contrast, give circuit courts authority to address all matters as long as remaining consistent with the remand.

3. Upon remand of a case for further proceedings after a decision by this Court, the circuit court must proceed in accordance with the mandate and the law of the case as established on appeal. **The trial court must implement both the letter and the spirit of the mandate, taking into account the appellate court's opinion and the circumstances it embraces.**

4. A circuit court's interpretation of a mandate of this Court and whether the circuit court complied with such mandate are questions of law that are reviewed *de novo*.

5. When a circuit court fails or refuses to obey or give effect to the mandate of this Court, misconstrues it, or acts beyond its province in carrying it out, the writ of prohibition is an appropriate means of enforcing compliance with the mandate. (Emphasis added).

In answering the first certified question in the affirmative, the trial court implemented the letter and the spirit of this Court's holding in *Clark*. For the retired Petitioners, this Court held that as a result of Respondent's violation of its statutory and fiduciary duties to correct errors in a timely fashion, Respondent could not exercise its right, under W.Va.Code §5-10-44(e), to prospectively adjust the benefits being received by the retired Petitioners nor could Respondent extract any money from these retired Petitioners to apply against any overpayment. The remedy for failing to timely correct the subsistence pay error, which error was repeated for every DNR law enforcement officer from 1997 through October, 2015, was to allow these retired Petitioners to continue receiving their full PERS' benefits, including the additional benefits paid as a result of including the subsistence pay income.

In answering the first certified question, the trial court had to review the decision in *Clark* to see how the Court reached its final decision. *Clark* was based upon the 2015 version of W.Va.Code §5-10-44.³ Subsections (a) and (e) in that version of the statute read as follows:

³The Court's holding that in addition to violating its statutory mandate, Respondent also violated its **fiduciary obligations** owed to Petitioners by not finding and correcting this error in a timely manner is significant. In footnote 77 of *Clark*, the Court noted that subsection (e) provided a more onerous timely correction of error standard than under subsection (a), which is prefaced by the phrase "Upon learning of any errors." Perhaps in recognition of this fact, the year after the *Clark* decision was issued, the Legislature amended W.Va.Code §5-10-44(e), and (f), by adding the phrase "upon learning of the error" into those two subsections. While this new language will give Respondent a statutory argument that its obligation to correct an error is triggered "upon learning

(a) *General rule.* -- Upon learning of any errors, the board shall correct errors in the retirement system in a timely manner whether an individual, entity or board was at fault for the error with the intent of placing the affected individual, entity and retirement board in the position each would have been in had the error not occurred.

* * *

(e) *Overpayments from the retirement system:* **If any error results in any member, retirant, beneficiary, entity or other individual receiving from the system more than he would have been entitled to receive had the error not occurred, the board shall correct the error in a timely manner.** If correction of the error occurs after annuity payments to a retirant or beneficiary have commenced, the board shall prospectively adjust the payment of the benefit to the correct amount. In addition, the member, retirant, beneficiary, entity or other person who received the overpayment from the retirement system shall repay the amount of any overpayment to the retirement system in any manner permitted by the board. Interest shall not accumulate on any corrective payment made to the retirement system pursuant to this subsection. (Emphasis added).

In applying this timely error correction statute, this Court in *Clark* adopted the following two new Syllabus Points:

9. West Virginia Code § 5-10-44 (eff. July 1, 2015) is a remedial statute that may be applied to correct an error in the Public Employees Retirement System, found at West Virginia Code §§ 5-10-1 to 55, that occurred before July 1, 2015.

10. Under West Virginia Code § 5-10-44(e) (eff. July 1, 2015), the Consolidated Public Retirement Board shall correct in a timely manner any error that results in any member, retirant, beneficiary, entity or other individual receiving from the Public Employees Retirement System, found at West Virginia Code §§ 5-10-1 to 55, more than he or she would have been entitled to receive had the error not occurred.

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