#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

DOCKET No. 24-208

SCA EFiled: Aug 05 2024 04:57PM EDT Transaction ID 73952223

ROBERT CLARK, ET AL.,

Petitioners,

v.

# WEST VIRGINIA CONSOLIDATED PUBLIC RETIREMENT BOARD,

Respondent.

# Response to Petitioner's Certified Question Brief

#### Counsel for Respondent, the West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board

Ronda L. Harvey, Esquire (WVSB 6326) Steptoe & Johnson PLLC P. O. Box 1588 Charleston, West Virginia 25326-1588

Phone: (304) 353-8160

E-mail: Ronda.Harvey@steptoe-johnson.com

##

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

#### II. Summary of Argument

This honorable Court previously decided the issues presented by certified question in the previous appea in this case, *W.Va. Public Retirement Bd. v. Clark*, 245 W.Va. 510; 859 S.E.2d 453 (2021) (the "*Clark*" decision). No ambiguity exists in the *Clark* decision. Yet, over the past three years since the decision, the West Virginia Consolidated Public Retirement Board ("CPRB") has not been able to follow the clear direction of this Court because, despite several attempts, CPRB has not swayed Petitioners from their erroneous interpretation. The dispute over Petitioners' erroneous interpretation resulted in much briefing before the Circuit Court culminating

with Petitioners' request for certified questions. Earlier this year, the Circuit Court held a hearing on the issue of whether to certify questions to the Supreme Court and on March 21, 2024, entered an order accepting Petitioners proposed certified questions to this Court. In that order, the Circuit Court adopted Petitioners' answers to both certified questions. Both answers are erroneous and based on the *Clark* decision, this Court should overturn the Circuit Court's answers.

The *Clark* decision in its most basic essence holds two things: (1) subsistence allowance is NOT pensionable compensation; and (2) because the Supreme Court concluded that CPRB did not timely discover DNR's error in including subsistence allowance as pensionable income, CPRB could not recover the overpayments made to retirants or their beneficiaries as a result of that error. CPRB has made several efforts over the past few years to implement that decision, but Petitioners claim this Court's limited holding should be extended to the active DNR officers who were still employed at the time of the Court's decision. This is wrong and the Circuit Court erred in agreeing with Petitioners.

First, this Court's opinion specifically limits its holding regarding untimeliness to payments made by CPRB to retirees. *See* 245 W.Va. at 525; 859 S.E.2d at 468 and fn. 77. This limitation is supported by the Statute that requires timely correction by CPRB of overpayments *from* the retirement system, but the timeliness correction is not required for overpayments *to* the retirement system (like the prior overpayments made by not-yet-retired DNR officers and DNR).

Second, the distinction in requiring timely correction of overpayments to retirees, but not including a timeliness requirement as to overpayments to CPRB makes sense because retirees already have received their benefits. If correction of the overpayments to the retirees here were enforced, the retired officers would have to return those benefits (which likely they have already spent on daily living expenses) to CPRB. Conversely, retirement benefits for the officers

that had not retired at the time of the appeal have not even been calculated yet and thus, those active officers have no expectation that the \$130 monthly subsistence allowance 1 should be included in calculating their retirement benefits. Importantly, the \$130 monthly subsistence allowance has not been included since October 2014 when CPRB discovered DNR's error. Moreover, the active DNR officers will be reimbursed for any amounts based on subsistence allowance that DNR wrongfully included in the submission to CPRB for retirement contributions.

In addition to overturning the Circuit Court's answer to the first certified question, this Court should overturn the answer to the second certified question. The Circuit Court's answer to the second certified question improperly grants Petitioners' their attorneys' fees in a case where the Petitioner lost on the primary legal issue.

#### III. Statement Regarding Oral Argument

The first issue in this certified question appeal was clearly addressed in the *Clark* decision. The second issue, whether Petitioners are entitled to attorneys' fees, is not novel or complicated and actually was already decided by the Court's Mandate that states each party will "bear their own costs." Thus, CPRB does not believe oral argument is necessary, but also does not oppose it if the Court believes it would be helpful.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> In accordance with the PERS plan, for DNR officers hired before July 1, 2015, only 4.5% of the \$130 monthly subsistence allowance is included in retirement contributions. Thus, the monthly contribution amount is \$5.85.

#### IV. Argument

A. Subsistence allowance is not pensionable income and retirement contributions of DNR officers who had not yet retired as of July 14, 2021, the date of the West Virginia Supreme Court's Mandate must be corrected.

Petitioners argue to stretch this Court's holding in the *Clark* decision and apply it to the DNR officers who had not yet retired at the time of this Court's decision. In the *Clark* decision, CPRB appealed the ruling of the Circuit Court finding that subsistence allowance is pensionable. The Supreme Court disagreed with the Circuit Court and instead held specifically that subsistence allowance does not fall within the definition of "compensation" in the PERS statutory plan and therefore is not pensionable compensation. *See*, 245 W.Va. at 52; 859 S.E.2d at 463. This was the primary legal issue on appeal and this Court ruled against Petitioners and determined that DNR acted improperly and erroneously in including subsistence allowance in its calculations of employer and employee retirement submissions to CPRB.

Even so, this Court found that CPRB did not timely correct system *overpayments* to retirees that resulted from DNR's erroneous treatment of subsistence allowance payments as pensionable compensation, and as a consequence CPRB "may not require Respondents<sup>2</sup> who have received overpayments from PERS due to that error to repay those amounts," and in addition "may not prospectively adjust payments to those retirant-and beneficiary-Respondents to whom annuity payments have already started." See, 245 W.Va. 510, 526; 859 S.E.2d 453, 469 [emphasis added]. The Clark decision regarding untimeliness of error correction is specifically limited to "retirant-and beneficiary-Respondents" to whom annuity payments have already started." Id. [emphasis

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> In the *Clark* decision, the DNR officers were Respondents because CPRB appealed the decision of the Circuit Court. Here, the DNR officers are Petitioners because they are petitioning the Court with certified questions.

added]. This Court "limit[ed the] review" on this issue to retirants and their beneficiaries. Further, the Court specifically pointed to "overpayments to the retirement system by an employee" as corrective action that the *Clark* decision on untimely correction does <u>not</u> apply. *Id.* n. 77.

The holding in the *Clark* decision follows the very clear requirements of the PERS statutory plan as set forth in West Virginia Code § 5-10-44. Subsection (e) of that statute requires CPRB to correct errors regarding overpayments to retirees "in a timely manner." Two other error correction subsections in § 5-10-44 are also implicated by the *Clark* holding that subsistence allowance is not pensionable -- (c) overpayments to the retirement system by an employer; (d) overpayments to the retirement system by an employee. DNR and its officers did overpay up until November 1, 2015<sup>3</sup> because the retirement contributions submitted to CPRB erroneously included subsistence allowance. Pursuant to the *Clark* holding that subsistence allowance is not pensionable, CPRB is duty-bound and statutorily required to refund those overpayments under subsections (c) and (d) of § 5-10-44. *See* Illustrative Graphic below:

Retirees	Overpayment to Retirees of Retirement Benefits	Clark decision – CPRB did not correct in timely manner	CPRB cannot seek repayment	§ 5-10-44(e)
Active Officers	Overpayment of retirement contributions by Officers and DNR to CPRB up to 11/1/15	Clark decision - subsistence allowance is not pensionable and no requirement in (c) and (d) for "timely" correction	CPRB must reimburse overpayments	§§ 5-10-44(c) and (d)

CPRB is expected to take the corrective action required under subsections (c) and (d) of § 5-10-44 because the Supreme Court specifically "limit[ed the] review" on the timeliness issue to subsection

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As noted above, when CPRB discovered that DNR was including subsistence allowance in calculating retirement contributions, CPRB advised DNR of the error and DNR stopped including subsistence allowance November 1, 2015.

(e) – overpayments to retirees -- and specifically stated that CPRB is not precluded from "other courses of corrective action" like those in subsections (c) and (d) of § 5-10-44. *Id.* n. 77.

Under the Clark decision, the retired officers whose pensions had already been calculated based on DNR's wrongful inclusion of subsistence allowance and had already begun receiving retirement benefits, will continue to receive their benefits with no change. If this Court had intended the *Clark* decision to apply to the currently employed officers that had not yet retired, the Supreme Court would not have explicitly limited the holding to "retirant-and beneficiary-In an attempt to extend that holding, Petitioners rely on one word in the Respondents." concurring/dissenting4 opinion of Justice Wooton - "current." Justice Wooton dissented on the primary legal issue as noted in footnote 4. His two sentence concurrence states that he agrees with the majority's conclusion, but then overstates that the conclusion holds all respondents, "current and former DNR officers and/or their beneficiaries cannot now be stripped of retirement benefits." See, 245 W.Va. at 526; 859 S.E.2d at 469. Clearly, the majority opinion limited the ability of CPRB to correct the overpayment error only as to "retirants and their beneficiaries." *Id.* at 526. Even applying the statutorily-mandated error correction provision to the officers who have not retired, they will not be "stripped of retirement benefits," but rather, they will receive a refund of the amounts erroneously submitted by DNR that include subsistence allowance.

Moreover, Petitioners' reliance on this sentence in the Wooten concurrence is unpersuasive because a concurrence is <u>not</u> binding precedent. *State v. Beaver*, 248 W.Va. 177; 887 S.E.2d 610, fn. 5 (2022); *Maryland v. Wilson*, 519 U.S. 408, 413 (1997). Rather, the majority's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Justice Wooten's opinion focuses primarily on explaining his dissent to the majority's decision that subsistence allowance is not pensionable. His concurrence is stated only in 2 sentences in his approximately  $5\frac{1}{2}$  page opinion and the rest of the opinion addresses his dissent.

opinion that subsistence allowance is not pensionable compensation is binding precedent and as such, CPRB must correct DNR's error of including subsistence allowance in submissions to CPRB for those DNR officers who have not yet retired. W.VA. CODE § 5-10-44.

Why is it important and mandated for CPRB to correct the error as to DNR officers who have not yet received retirement benefits? CPRB is a public body established pursuant to W. Va. CODE § 5-10D-1, et seq., and serves as the statutory administrator of the PERS, JRS, TRS plans, among others. As the fiduciary for these plans, CPRB must act for the exclusive benefit of all participants and beneficiaries of the plans. This requires CPRB to administer the plans in accordance with plan terms, which are set forth in various State statutes and rules. See Syl. Pt. 5, Dadisman v. Moore, 181 W. Va. 779, 384 S.E.2d 816 (1989) (holding that CPRB as the trustees of a public plan "have the highest fiduciary duty to maintain the terms of the trust, as spelled out in the statute.")

Permitting PERS members or retirees to receive additional benefits from the plan on the basis of errors in the records of an employer could significantly undermine the ability of the CPRB to properly administer PERS and other plans. The State and other participating employers that fund the plans are not required to fund erroneously awarded benefits. Unfortunately, such errors are inevitable in PERS with more than 700 participating employers throughout the state and over 63,000 members, but in enacting the error correction provisions of W. VA. CODE § 5-10-44, the Legislature made clear that CPRB must correct those errors, regardless of any equitable concerns.

Petitioners argue that they have a "legitimate expectation" that their future retirement benefits should include subsistence allowance despite the holding in the *Clark* decision that subsistence allowance is not pensionable. This argument is unsupported by the facts. The

DNR officers that have not retired have not received a calculation of their retirement benefit and indeed no calculation occurs until the employee contacts CPRB and requests this calculation. The DNR and its officers that have not retired will suffer no loss as a result of the error correction because the DNR and each officer will receive a full refund of any amounts submitted to CPRB erroneously based on subsistence allowance. Conversely, under Petitioners' interpretation of *Clark*, both DNR and the DNR officers who had not yet retired will be required to submit additional retirement contributions going back to November 1, 2015, when DNR stopped including subsistence allowance in retirement submissions to CPRB up through July 15, 2021, the date of this Court's Mandate. Due to the statutorily-mandated method for calculating Final Average Salary in determining retirement benefits, as set forth in W. VA. CODE § 5-10-2 (13), under Petitioners' interpretation of *Clark*, current DNR officers who have not retired will owe contributions to CPRB (that include a calculation based on subsistence allowance), but those contributions will not appreciably increase the amount of the officer's retirement benefits and in some instances will not increase the benefits at all.

On page 16 of their Brief, Petitioners' argue that they "relied upon the retirement system that included subsistence pay as part of their compensable income" and further speculate that due to that reliance some of the Petitioners "may have" stayed employed by DNR instead of seeking more lucrative employment. In addition to being wildly speculative, 5 this argument ignores the Court's holding in *Clark*: "[subsistence] allowance is not, under the terms of PERS, pensionable compensation, nor has it ever been. Thus, no promise was made upon which

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The speculation seems unfounded since the monthly contribution based on subsistence allowance submitted erroneously by DNR is only \$5.85.

[Petitioners] – active or retired – could have relied to their detriment regarding the allowance's status as pensionable compensation." *See* 245 W.Va. 510; 859 S.E.2d 453, n. 73.

Even if Petitioners had an expectation that subsistence allowance would be included in their retirement calculations, CPRB must still correct the error and pay back the overpayments made by Petitioners and their employer. Prior decisions of our Supreme Court firmly establish this jurisprudence holding that CPRB is required to correct errors made by participating PERS employers, even if the employee may have detrimentally relied on those errors. See e.g. W. Va. Cons. Pub. Ret. Bd. v. Jones, 233 W. Va. 681, 683; 760 S.E.2d 495 (2014) (per curiam) (CPRB was not estopped from determining that Jones was ineligible to participate in PERS where employer erroneously enrolled him even though he participated in PERS for the next eight years); Curry v. W. Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd., 236 W. Va. 188, 192, 778 S.E.2d 637, 641 (2015) (noting the "mootness" of an argument that the CPRB is estopped by an employee's reliance on his employer's promise of PERS participation); Ringel-Williams v. W. Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd., W. Va. , 290 S.E.2d 806 (2016) (denying employee's request that the CPRB be equitably estopped from correcting an employer's error with respect to Teachers' Retirement System eligibility); Myers v. W. Va. Consol. Pub. Ret. Bd., 226 W. Va. 738, 704 S.E.2d 738 (2010) (per curiam) ("[w]hile [employee] may have relied on the Board's erroneous representation that he would receive service credit, the Board is statutorily bound by West Virginia Code § 5-10-44 to correct errors...The statute does not limit this requirement for equitable reasons.").

Employer errors such as these can, in the aggregate, have a fiscal impact on the plan, but perhaps more importantly, failing to correct for the DNR officers that have not yet retired

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